Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-10-2011

Gerardo v. State Appellant's Brief Dckt. 38592

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

Frank Gerardo appeals from the district court's order dated March 8, 2011; in which the district court denied his petition for post-conviction relief, after hearing. Mr. Gerardo asserts that the district court erred by denying his petition for post-conviction relief.

B. Statement of the Facts & Course of Proceedings

On August 18, 2009, Mr. Gerardo filed a petition for post-conviction relief along with a supporting affidavit, alleging ineffective assistance of counsel regarding the performance of both his trial level and appellate level attroneys. (R., pp.16 and 25). due to ineffective assistance of counsel. (R., p. 128, also, *Affidavit of Frank Gerardo*, R., p. 145-146).

Mr. Gerardo's position in his Amended Verified Petition for Post Conviction Relief was that his trial attorney was ineffective such that he received ineffective assistance of counsel because his attorney:

- a. failed to request a limiting instruction with regards to the address of Mr. Gerardo and Mr. Johnny Gonzalez at 21st. Avenue South in Nampa, Idaho after the district court denied a motion in limine to exclude such statements as hearsay;
- b. failed to fully investigate the facts of Mr. Gerardo's case by failing to interview prior to trial and call during trial, despite Mr. Gerardo's request, Ms. Christina Delgado who would have testified that Mr. Gerardo and Mr. Gonzalez had separate residences and did not know each other prior to being arrested on the underlying charge;

c. failed to introduce evidence that contradicted the State's evidence that Mr. Gerardo and co-defendant Mr. Johnny Gonzalez shared the same address. (R., 45.). (See also Affidavit of Frank Gerardo, R. 53 - 56.).

Mr. Gerardo's position in his Amended Verified Petition for Post-conviction Relief was that his appellate attorney was ineffective such that he received ineffective assistance of counsel because his attorney:

- a. failed to raise on appeal the issue of the district court's denial of Mr. Gerardo's motion to sever;
- b. failed to raise on appeal the issue of the district court's denial of Mr. Gerardo's motion fo rmistrial. (R., 45-46.); (See also Affidavit of Frank Gerardo, R. 53 56.).

Mr. Gerardo supplied evidence via his Amended Verified Petition for Post Conviction Relief a factual claim of innocence, stating: that his charges alleged events alleged to have occurred on or about the night of January 24, 2006; that he was arrested on or about January 25, 2006 and on or about that same day placed in the custody of the Canyon County Jail in the same holding cell with Ketih Alan Ogburn, coderfendant; and that prior to January 15, 2006 when he was placed into custody, he had never met Keith Alan Ogburn. (R., 46.). Further, the record before the trial court reflected the Affidavit of Keith Alan Ogburn, in which Mr. Ogburn testified that he had never met Mr. Gerardo prior to being placed into the same holding cell with Mr. Gerardo on or about January 25, 2006, corresponding to Mr. Gerardo's testimony. (R., 50.), (See also Affidavit of Frank Gerardo, R. 53 - 56.).

An evidentiary hearing was conducted on February 25, 2011. (Tr. p. 5). The testimony of Keith Alan Ogburn and Mr. Gerardo was elicited on behalf of Mr. Gerardo. (Tr. pp. 9 - 28). No witnesses appeared for the State.

Mr. Gerardo supplied evidence via his Amended Verified Petition for Post Conviction Relief a factual claim of innocence, stating: that his charges alleged events alleged to have occurred on or about the night of January 24, 2006; that he was arrested on or about January 25, 2006 and on or about that same day placed in the custody of the Canyon County Jail in the same holding cell with Ketih Alan Ogburn, coderfendant; and that prior to January 15, 2006 when he was placed into custody, he had never met Keith Alan Ogburn. (R., 46.). Further, the record before the trial court reflected the Affidavit of Keith Alan Ogburn, in which Mr. Ogburn testified that he had never met Mr. Gerardo prior to being placed into the same holding cell with Mr. Gerardo on or about January 25, 2006, corresponding to Mr. Gerardo's affidavit. (R., 50.), (See also Affidavit of Frank Gerardo, R. 53 - 56.).

Mr. Keith Ogburn testified at the February 25, 2011 hearing on post conviction to the same facts, namely that he had never met Mr. Gerardo before the two of them were arrested and placed into the same holding cell on or about January 25, 2006. (Tr., p. 9, Line 12 - p. 12. Line 10.). In fact, Mr. Ogburn testified in response to the State's cross examination, "I just don't know Mr. Gerardo." (Tr., p. 12, Line 10.).

Mr. Gerardo also testified on his own behalf. His testimony matched the sworn facts stated in his verified amended petiton and his affidavit in support, both referenced above. (Tr., p. 14, Line 12 - p. 12. Line 10.).

The district court by Order denied Mr. Gerardo's petition for post-conviction relief. (R., 91-92.).

Mr. Gerardo timely filed his appeal. (R., 93-95.).

II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- A. Did the district court err when it dismissed Mr. Gerardo's Petition for Post-Conviction Relief concerning his trial counsel?
- B. Did the district court err when it dismissed Mr. Gerardo's Petition for Post-Conviction Relief concerning his appellate counsel?

III. ARGUMENT

١.

The District Court Erred When It Dismissed Mr. Gerardo's Petition For Post-Conviction Relief

Upon review of a district court's denial of a petition for post-conviction relief when an evidentiary hearing has occurred, Idaho appellate courts will not disturb the district court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. *McKinney v. State*, 133 Idaho 695, 700, 992 P.2d 144, 149 (1999), *citing* I.R.C.P. 52(a); *Russell v. State*, 118 Idaho 65, 67, 794 P.2d 654, 656 (Ct. App.1990). When reviewing mixed questions of law and fact, the appellate court defers to the district court's factual findings supported by substantial evidence, but freely reviews the application of the relevant law to those facts. *Id.*, *citing Young v. State*, 115 Idaho 52, 54, 764 P.2d 129, 131 (Ct. App.1988).

To prevail on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim in a post-conviction action, one must show that his or her attorney's performance was deficient, and that he or she was prejudiced by the deficiency. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984);

Hassett v. State, 127 Idaho 313, 316, 900 P.2d 221, 224 (Ct. App. 1995). To establish deficiency, the applicant has the burden of showing that the attorney's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. *Aragon v. State*, 114 Idaho 758, 760, 760 P.2d 1174, 1176 (1988); *Suits v. State*, 143 Idaho 160, 162, 139 P.3d 762, 764 (Ct. App. 2006). To establish prejudice, the applicant must show a reasonable probability that, but for the attorney's deficient performance, the outcome of the trial would have been different. *Id*.

A. The District Court erred when it dismissed Mr. Gerardo's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel with regard to his trial counsel.

Mr. Gerardo's position in his Amended Verified Petition for Post Conviction Relief was that his trial attorney was ineffective such that he received ineffective assistance of counsel because his attorney:

- a. failed to request a limiting instruction with regards to the address of Mr. Gerardo and a Mr. Johnny Gonzalez at 21st. Avenue South in Nampa, Idaho after the district court denied a motion in limine to exclude such statements as hearsay;
- b. failed to fully investigate the facts of Mr. Gerardo's case by failing to interview prior to trial and call during trial, despite Mr. Gerardo's request, Ms. Christina Delgado who would have testified that Mr. Gerardo and Mr. Gonzalez had separate residences and did not know each other prior to being arrested on the underlying charge;
- c. failed to introduce evidence that contradicted the State's evidence that Mr. Gerardo and co-defendant Mr. Johnny Gonzalez shared the same address. (R., 45.). (See also Affidavit of Frank Gerardo, R. 53 56.).

Mr. Gerardo presented evidence in the form of his verified petition, his affidavit, and the testimony of co-defendant Keith Ogburn and himself. His verified petition and affidavit provide evidence of the above claims. (R., 45, 53-56.).

Moreover, he testified to those facts at hearing. He testified that he had asked his attorney a limiting instruction with regards to the address of Mr. Gerardo and a Mr. Johnny Gonzalez at 21st. Avenue South in Nampa, Idaho. (Tr., p. 19, line 19 – p. 20, line 2.). This was important because the admission of testimony that Mr. Gerardo shared housing with co-defendant Mr. Gonzalez was not supposed to come in, and undercut Mr. Gerardo's position that he did not know the co-defendants, nor was he involved in a crime with them.

Further, Mr. Gonzalez's affidavit makes clear that Mr. Gonzalez did not share that same address, and that the first time he met Mr. Gerardo was when he was placed in the same holding tank as Mr. Gerardo. (See Affidavit of Johnny Gonzalez, R., 15 – 16.).

Additionally, Mr. Gerardo testified about his attorney's failure to investigate and introduce the testimony of Ms. Christina Delgado who would have testified that Mr. Gerardo and Mr. Gonzalez had separate residences and did not know each other prior to being arrested on the underlying charge. (Tr., p. 15, Line 5 – p. 16, Line 11; p. 17, Line 10 – p. 18, Line 6.). This failure is important as it supports Mr. Gerardo's statements that he had not met the co-defendants in this case, and therefore he could not be guilty. Mr. Gerardo's live testimony, affidavits and verified petition amply demonstrate a reasonable probability that the outcome of his trial would have been different had his attorney not failed to take the necessary steps requested.

Therefore, it is Mr. Gerardo's position that the district court erred by denying his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel and thereby his claim for post-conviction relief.

B. The District Court erred when it dismissed Mr. Gerardo's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel with regard to his appellate counsel.

Mr. Gerardo's position in his Amended Verified Petition for Post-conviction Relief was that his appellate attorney was ineffective such that he received ineffective assistance of counsel because his attorney:

- failed to raise on appeal the issue of the district court's denial of Mr.
 Gerardo's motion to sever;
- b. failed to raise on appeal the issue of the district court's denial of Mr. Gerardo's motion fo rmistrial. (R., 45-46.); (See also Affidavit of Frank Gerardo, R. 53 56.).

Mr. Gerardo provided evidence via his verified petition and his sworn affidavit regarding the above claims. (R., 45-46.); (See also Affidavit of Frank Gerardo, R. 53 – 56.). Further, he testified at his hearing on his petition for post-conviction relief that he asked his attorney to raise the issue of severance, and the denial of his motion for mistrial, but that his attorney did not raise them. (Tr., p. 18, Line 21 - p. 20, Line 2.).

The district court incorrectly reasoned in its order denying relief that the issues related to mistrial and severance were direct appeal issues and therefore could not be subject of post-conviction relief. (R., 93.).

Mr. Gerardo's position is that his appellate attorney failed to raise the requested issues and was therefore ineffective. Evidence of those ommissions was provided to the district court in the form of a verified amended petition, an affidavit, and testimony.

Mr. Gerardo's contention that failure to raise these issues on appeal constitutes ineffective assistance on the part of his appellate attorney is not barred by the fact that the issues could have been raised on appeal.

The district court in a very conclusory fashion ruled that appellate counsel's representation was competent and that the failure to present the issues amounted to strategy. Such a conclusion is in error. Mr. Gerardo wanted those issues raised, and so made the request of his attorney. His attorney did not do so. Mr. Gerardo argues that such a failure amounts to ineffective assistance by falling below the objectiive standards of reasonableness.

C. Mr. Gerardo maintained and provided evidence of a factual claim of innocence, thereby demonstrating prejudice.

Mr. Gerardo supplied evidence via his Amended Verified Petition for Post Conviction Relief a factual claim of innocence, stating: that his charges alleged events alleged to have occurred on or about the night of January 24, 2006; that he was arrested on or about January 25, 2006 and on or about that same day placed in the custody of the Canyon County Jail in the same holding cell with Ketih Alan Ogburn, coderfendant; and that prior to January 15, 2006 when he was placed into custody, he had never met Keith Alan Ogburn. (R., 46.). Further, the record before the trial court reflected the Affidavit of Keith Alan Ogburn, in which Mr. Ogburn testified that he had never met Mr. Gerardo prior to being placed into the same holding cell with Mr. Gerardo on or about January 25, 2006, corresponding to Mr. Gerardo's affidavit. (R., 50.), (See also Affidavit of Frank Gerardo, R. 53 - 56.).

Mr. Keith Ogburn testified at the February 25, 2011 hearing on post conviction to the same facts, namely that he had never met Mr. Gerardo before the two of them were arrested and placed into the same holding cell on or about January 25, 2006. (Tr., p. 9, Line 12 - p. 12. Line 10.). In fact, Mr. Ogburn testified in response to the State's cross examination, "I just don't know Mr. Gerardo." (Tr., p. 12, Line 10.).

Mr. Gerardo also testified on his own behalf. His testimony matched the sworn facts stated in his verified amended petiton and his affidavit in support, both referenced above. (Tr., p. 14, Line 12 - p. 12. Line 10.).

Therefore, Mr. Gerardo demonstrated a claim of factual innocence, and thereby demonstrated prejudice caused by the failings of his attorneys. It is Mr. Gerardo's position that if his attorneys had performed the requests made by their client, there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial, and subsequently the appeal, would have been different. It is therefore his postion that he demonstrated that his attorneys' performance was deficient, and that he was prejudiced by the deficiencies. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984); *Hassett v. State*, 127 Idaho 313, 316, 900 P.2d 221, 224 (Ct. App. 1995).

IV. CONCLUSION

Based on the above, Mr. Gerardo respectfully requests that this Court vacate the district court's order dismissing his petition for post-conviction relief.