Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-31-2012

Gerardo v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 38592

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

ARGUMENT

Gerardo Has Failed To Show Error In The Denial Of His Post-Conviction Petition

A. Introduction

Gerardo challenges the denial of his post-conviction petition, contending he presented sufficient evidence to prove his ineffective assistance of trial and appellate counsel claims. (Appellant's brief, pp.5-9.) Gerardo's arguments fail. The district court correctly applied the law to the facts in concluding that Gerardo failed to establish either deficient performance or resulting prejudice in relation to any of his ineffective assistance of counsel claims.

B. Standard Of Review

A petitioner seeking post-conviction relief has the burden of proving, by a preponderance of the evidence, the allegations upon which his claim is based. Estes v. State, 111 Idaho 430, 436, 725 P.2d 135, 141 (1986); Clark v. State, 92 Idaho 827, 830, 452 P.2d 54, 57 (1969); I.C.R. 57(c). When the district court conducts an evidentiary hearing and enters findings of fact and conclusions of law, an appellate court will disturb the findings of fact only if they are clearly erroneous, but will freely review the conclusions of law drawn by the district court from those facts. Mitchell v. State, 132 Idaho 274, 276-77, 971 P.2d 727, 729-730 (1998). The credibility of the witnesses, the weight to be given to their testimony, and the inferences to be drawn from the evidence are all matters solely within the province of the district court. Peterson v. State, 139 Idaho 95, 97, 73 P.3d 108, 110 (Ct. App. 2003). A trial court's decision that a post-

conviction petitioner has not met his burden of proof is entitled to great weight.

Sanders v. State, 117 Idaho 939, 940, 792 P.2d 964, 965 (Ct. App. 1990).

C. <u>Gerardo Failed To Prove His Ineffective Assistance Of Trial Counsel</u> Claims

A post-conviction petitioner alleging ineffective assistance of counsel must demonstrate both deficient performance and resulting prejudice. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88 (1984); State v. Charboneau, 116 Idaho 129, 137, 774 P.2d 299, 307 (1989). An attorney's performance is not constitutionally deficient unless it falls below an objective standard of reasonableness, and there is a strong presumption that counsel's conduct is within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance. Schoger v. State, 148 Idaho 622, 624, 226 P.3d 1269, 1271 (2010); Gibson v. State, 110 Idaho 631, 634, 718 P.2d 283, 286 (1986); Davis v. State, 116 Idaho 401, 406, 775 P.2d 1243, 1248 (Ct. App. 1989). A reviewing court evaluates counsel's performance at the time of the alleged error, not in hindsight, and presumes that "trial counsel was competent and that trial tactics were based on sound legal strategy." State v. Porter, 130 Idaho 772, 791-92, 948 P.2d 127, 146-47 (1997) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at Trial counsel's strategic and tactical decisions will not be secondguessed on review or serve as a basis for post-conviction relief under a claim of ineffective counsel unless the UPCPA petitioner has shown that the decision resulted from inadequate preparation, ignorance of the relevant law or other shortcomings capable of objective review. Giles v. State, 125 Idaho 921, 924, 877 P.2d 365, 368 (1994); Cunningham v. State, 117 Idaho 428, 430-31, 788

P.2d 243, 245-46 (Ct. App. 1990). To establish prejudice, a petitioner must show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's deficient performance, the outcome of the proceeding would have been different. Schoger, 148 Idaho at 624, 226 P.3d at 1271; Aragon v. State, 114 Idaho 758, 761, 760 P.2d 1174, 1177 (1988); Cowger v. State, 132 Idaho 681, 685, 978 P.2d 241, 244 (Ct. App. 1999).

Gerardo raised three ineffective assistance of trial counsel claims, each related to trial counsel's alleged failure to adequately address and/or refute the state's evidence that tended to connect Gerardo with his co-defendant, Johnny Gonzalez. (R., p.45.) Specifically, Gerardo alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for: (1) failing to request a limiting instruction regarding evidence that Gerardo and Gonzalez shared a common address; (2) failing to interview and call as a witness at trial Christina Delgado who, according to Gerardo, would have testified that Gerardo and Gonzalez had separate residences and did not know each other before being arrested on the underlying criminal charges; and (3) failing to introduce evidence that contradicted the state's evidence that Gerardo and Gonzalez had the same address. (R., p.45.) Contrary to Gerardo's arguments on appeal, the district court properly denied relief with respect to each of these allegations because Gerardo failed to carry his burden of proving deficient performance and resulting prejudice as to any of his claims.

Gerardo, Gonzalez and Keith Ogburn were all indicted and tried together for the burglary and attempted robbery of the Lotus Garden restaurant. <u>State v.</u> Gerardo, 147 Idaho 22, 24, 205 P.3d 671, 673 (Ct. App. 2009). Before trial,

Gerardo's attorney moved *in limine* to exclude from evidence testimony that, while being booked into jail, Gonzalez told the booking officer that his address was 207 21st Avenue South, in Nampa – the same address Gerardo had given when he was booked into jail. (#33450 Trial Tr., p.36, L.7 – p.40, L.6.¹) Gerardo argued that Gonzalez's statement, although admissible as an admission of a party opponent against Gonzalez, was inadmissible hearsay as to Gerardo and should thus be excluded from evidence at trial. (#33450 Trial Tr., p.38, L.22 – p.40, L.6.) The district court denied the motion, ruling that the statement was a non-hearsay admission of a party opponent. (#33450 Trial Tr., p.45, Ls.2-6.) Ultimately, a jailer testified at trial that she booked Gonzalez and Gerardo into jail and that both of them gave the same home address: 207 21st Avenue South, in Nampa. (#33450 Trial Tr., p.662, L.1 – p.663, L.8.)

On appeal, Gerardo argued that the trial court erred in admitting Gonzalez's booking statement, contending as he had below that "Gonzalez's statement was inadmissible hearsay when used against Gerardo." State v. Gerardo, 147 Idaho 22, 25, 205 P.3d 671, 674 (Ct. App. 2009). The Idaho Court of Appeals agreed. Id. The Court acknowledged the evidence would have been admissible for the non-hearsay purpose of establishing a link between Gerardo and Gonzalez, regardless of whether the stated address was their true address. Id. However, because the trial court "never indicated that it was admitting Gonzalez's statement against Gerardo for this limited purpose," the Court of

¹Contemporaneously with the filing of this brief, the state is filing a motion requesting the Idaho Supreme Court to take judicial notice of the record and transcript in Gerardo's prior appeal, <u>State v. Gerardo</u>, S.Ct. Docket No. 33450.

Appeals concluded that "Gonzalez's statement was erroneously admitted at trial against Gerardo for the truth of the matter asserted, i.e., that Gonzalez lived at that address." <u>Id.</u> Ultimately, however, the Court held the error "was entirely harmless for a number of reasons." <u>Id.</u> at 27, 205 P.3d at 676. The Court explained:

First, the only probative value of this evidence of a common address was to show a link between Gonzalez and Gerardo, and it would have been admissible if properly proffered for this limited purpose. It had no prejudicial content when considered for the impermissible hearsay purpose — the truth of the address given to the booking officer. The prosecutor actually used the evidence only for the proper purpose, arguing in closing that Gonzalez's and Gerardo's statements of a common address established that "these guys all know each other." Second, Gonzalez's girlfriend testified that this street address was where she, Gonzalez and Gerardo all lived. Therefore, the erroneously admitted evidence was merely cumulative.

ld.

In his amended post-conviction petition, Gerardo alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to "[r]equest a limiting jury instruction with regards to the alleged common living address of the Petitioner and the co-defendant Johnny Gonzalez ... after the Court denied Petitioner's motion in limine to exclude said statements as hearsay." (R., p.45.) Gerardo did not allege that he was prejudiced by the lack of such an instruction (see generally R., pp.43-48 (amended petition), 53-57 (Affidavit of Frank Gerardo)), nor did he present any evidence of prejudice at the post-conviction hearing (see generally Tr.). In fact, the only evidence Gerardo offered in relation to this claim consisted of his own testimony that he asked trial counsel to request a limiting instruction, trial counsel "tried to raise it," and "the courts weren't trying to hear it." (Tr., p.19, L.19 – p.20,

L.2.) Even if believed by the district court, however, this testimony was not sufficient to prove by a preponderance of the evidence any deficiency of trial counsel, much less any resulting prejudice.

As found by the Court of Appeals, the erroneous admission of Gonzalez's statement of his residence address for the truth of the matter asserted - as opposed to for the limited purpose of establishing a link between Gerardo and Gonzalez – "was entirely harmless for a number of reasons," including that the statement "had no prejudicial content when considered for the impermissible hearsay purpose," the prosecutor only used the evidence for its permissible purpose of establishing a connection between Gerardo and Gonzalez, and Gonzalez's girlfriend testified that she lived with Gerardo and Gonzalez at the same address. Gerardo, 147 Idaho at 27, 205 P.3d at 676. Because Gerardo did not present evidence that he was actually prejudiced by the lack of a limiting instruction, the Court of Appeals' determination that the erroneous admission of Gonzalez's booking statement for the truth of the matter asserted was harmless is dispositive of and is, in fact, res judicata as to the prejudice prong of Gerardo's ineffective assistance of counsel claim. See, e.g., State v. Creech, 132 Idaho 1, 10, 966 P.2d 1, 10 (1998) (citing State v. Beam, 115 Idaho 208, 210, 766 P.2d 678, 680 (1988); State v. Fetterly, 115 Idaho 231, 233, 766 P.2d 701, 703 (1988)) ("[W]hen legal issues are decided in a criminal action on direct appeal, the defendant is barred by the doctrine of res judicata from raising them again in a post-conviction relief proceeding."). Even if trial counsel had requested a limiting instruction and such request had been granted. Gerardo failed to carry

his burden of proving a reasonable probability that such would have changed the outcome of the trial. Gerardo has failed to show that the district court erred in denying relief with respect to this claim.

Gerardo has also failed to show error in the denial of relief on his claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to interview Christina Delgado and call her as witness at trial. It is well settled that what evidence or testimony an attorney decides should be presented to the jury to best support a defense theory is a tactical decision that ordinarily will not be second-guessed on review. Rodgers v. State, 129 Idaho 720, 725, 932 P.2d 348 (1997); State v. Chapman, 120 Idaho 466, 816 P.2d 1023 (Ct. App. 1991). Tactical decisions of counsel are presumed competent, which presumption is overcome only upon showing an objective shortcoming such as failure to investigate or ignorance of the law. State v. Kraft, 96 Idaho 901, 905, 539 P.2d 254, 258 (1975). A post-conviction petitioner fails to show deficient performance or prejudice for failure to call a witness where he "has not demonstrated that his defense attorney could have offered exculpatory evidence" through that witness. Milburn v. State, 135 Idaho 701, 710-11, 23 P.3d 775, 784-85 (Ct. App. 2001).

Gerardo alleged in his petition and supporting affidavit that Ms. Delgado would have testified that Gerardo and Gonzalez had separate residences and did not know each other before being arrested on the underlying charges. (R., pp.45, 55.) He testified to the same facts at the evidentiary hearing (Tr., p.15, L.5 – p.16, L.11), but he did not call Ms. Delgado as a witness or otherwise offer any admissible evidence to prove that Ms. Delgado's testimony would actually

have had any exculpatory value at trial. As found by the district court at the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing:

I did not hear any evidence here from Mr. Gerardo or for that matter from Christina Delgado that she would have been prepared to testify that on the night in question she was with him or that she had such intimate knowledge of him because perhaps they were constantly together for this two-week period of time [immediately preceding the commission of the crimes], that he would not have had an opportunity to have contact with Keith Ogborn [sic] or Johnny Gonzalez. That it would have been impossible for him to have contact with him because he was constantly with her for that period of time. That was not presented here.

And, again, at this hearing ... petitioner has to come forward with that evidence. So it would have been easy enough to bring Christina Delgado here to say what she knew and what she didn't know.

(Tr., p.35, Ls.3-19.) Because Gerardo failed to present any admissible evidence to prove that Ms. Delgado's testimony would have been exculpatory, he failed to prove that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to interview her and call her as a witness. The district court correctly denied relief with respect to this claim.

Finally, Gerardo has failed to show error in the denial of relief on his claim that trial counsel failed to introduce "evidence that contradicted the State of Idaho's evidence at trial that [Gerardo] had the same address as co-defendant Johnny Gonzalez." (R., p.45.) Gerardo failed in his amended petition to identify what evidence he claimed contradicted the state's evidence. (See generally R., pp.43-47.) He asserted in his affidavit that he asked trial counsel to introduce "documentary evidence" which Gerardo claimed was attached to his affidavit as an exhibit (R., p.55), but the attachment, if it exists, is not in the appellate record (see generally R.), nor did Gerardo offer any documents as exhibits at the

evidentiary hearing (see generally Tr.). Having failed to even identify the evidence he claimed trial counsel should have presented to contradict the state's evidence, Gerardo failed to carry his burden of proving deficient performance and resulting prejudice with respect to this claim. Gerardo has failed to show error in the denial of his ineffective assistance of trial counsel claims.

D. <u>Gerardo Failed To Prove His Ineffective Assistance Of Appellate Counsel</u> Claims

The two-prong Strickland test for ineffective assistance of trial counsel also applies to claims of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel. Baxter v. State, 149 Idaho 859, 243 P.3d 675 (Ct. App. 2010) (citing Mintun v. State, 144 Idaho 656, 661, 168 P.3d 40, 45 (Ct. App. 2007). In order to establish ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, a petitioner has the burden of proving that his counsel's representation on appeal was deficient and that the deficiency was prejudicial. Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387 (1985); Mitchell v. State, 132 Idaho 274, 276, 971 P.2d 727, 730 (1998). Even if a defendant requests that certain issues be raised on appeal, appellate counsel has no constitutional obligation to raise every non-frivolous issue requested by the defendant. Jones v. Barnes. 463 U.S. 745, 751-53 (1983); Aragon v. State, 114 Idaho 758, 765, 760 P.2d 1174, 1181 (1988) (citing Jones, 463 U.S. at 751-754). The relevant inquiry is whether there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the defendant would have prevailed on appeal. Smith v. Robbins, 528 U.S. 259, 285 (2000); Schoger v. State, 148 Idaho 622, 629, 226 P.3d 1269, 1276 (2010) (citing State v. Payne, 146 Idaho 548, 561, 199 P.3d 123, 136 (2008)).

Gerardo alleged his appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to raise as issues on appeal the denial of his motion to sever and the denial of his motion for mistrial. (R., pp.45-46.) The district court denied these claims after the evidentiary hearing, concluding Gerardo failed to carry his burden of establishing either deficient performance or prejudice. (Tr., p.31, L.8 – p.32, L.11.) Gerardo argues on appeal that the district court erred because the evidence showed that "Mr. Gerardo wanted those issues raised" and that, despite Gerardo's request that appellate counsel raise the issues, counsel "did not do so." (Appellant's brief, p.8.) Gerardo has failed to establish any basis for reversal because, as set forth above, the fact that appellate counsel does not raise every non-frivolous issue requested by the defendant does not itself establish ineffective assistance of appellate counsel. Jones, 463 U.S. at 751-53; Aragon, 114 Idaho at 765, 760 P.2d at 1181. In addition, to be entitled to relief on his ineffective assistance of appellate counsel claims, Gerardo had the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that, but for counsel's failure to raise the requested issues, he would have prevailed on appeal. Smith, 528 U.S. at 285; Schoger, 148 Idaho at 629, 226 P.3d at 1276; Payne, 146 Idaho at 561, 199 P.3d at 136. A review of the record and the applicable law supports the district court's determination that Gerardo failed to carry his burden.

Gerardo moved in the underlying criminal case to sever his case from that of his co-defendants. (#33450 R., pp.16-18.) The district court denied the motion, ruling that Gerardo would not be unfairly prejudiced by a joint trial. (#33450 R., pp.28-34.) Gerardo alleged that appellate counsel was ineffective

for not pursuing the denial of his motion to sever as an issue on appeal. (R., To prevail on that issue, however, Gerardo would have been pp.45. 55.) required on appeal to "present[] facts demonstrating that unfair prejudice resulted from a joint trial, which denied [him] a fair trial." State v. Eguilior, 137 Idaho 903, 908, 55 P.3d 896, 901 (Ct. App. 2002). Gerardo did not identify any such prejudice in his amended post-conviction petition or supporting affidavit. (See generally R., pp.43-47, 54-56.) He testified at the evidentiary hearing that he specifically instructed appellate counsel to raise the issue (Tr., p.18, L.7 – p.19, L.10), but when asked what facts he had to support an appellate claim relating to the denial of his motion to sever, Gerardo testified only that he was "pretty sure" he had the right to a separate trial and that he felt like he "didn't have a fair trial" (Tr., p.23, L.23 – p.25, L.22). Gerardo did not identify any actual prejudice, much less present any facts demonstrating that he was actually denied a fair trial. Because Gerardo failed to present any evidence to demonstrate that he would have prevailed on the severance issue had it been raised on appeal, he has failed to show error in the denial of his claim that appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to raise that issue.

Gerardo has also failed to show error in the denial of his claim that appellate counsel was ineffective for not raising as an issue on appeal the denial of his motion for mistrial. Gerardo failed both in his amended petition and affidavit and at the evidentiary hearing to present any evidence to support his claim. (See generally R., pp.43-47, pp.54-56; Tr., pp.13-20.) When asked on cross-examination what facts he had to support his ineffective assistance of

appellate counsel claim, Gerardo conceded that the "exact facts" he contended would have supported an appellate challenge to the denial of his motion for mistrial were actually raised and considered on appeal and "found to be harmless." (Tr., p.25, L.23 – p.27, L.23.) Having conceded that the issue he contended should have been raised has "already been resolved on appeal" (Tr., p.27, Ls.21-23), Gerardo failed to carry his burden of establishing either deficient performance or resulting prejudice. Gerardo has failed to show error in the denial of his post-conviction petition.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests that this Court affirm the district court's order denying Gerardo's petition for post-conviction relief.